

# Exploring Grammar in Context

upper-intermediate and advanced

Ronald Carter, Rebecca Hughes and Michael McCarthy



© Cambridge University Press www.cambridge.org



CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS

Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, Madrid, Cape Town, Singapore, São Paulo

Cambridge University Press The Edinburgh Building, Cambridge CB2 8RU, UK

www.cambridge.org
Information on this title: www.cambridge.org/9780521568449

© Cambridge University Press 2000

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press.

First published 2000 8th printing 2007

Printed in Dubai by Oriental Press

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library

ISBN 978-0-521-56844-9 paperback

## Contents

Acknowledgements v To the student vi To the teacher vii

## Introduction

The structure of the book xi
Organisation of the units xii
Other features xiii
Using the book xiii
About the authors xiv

#### Part A Tenses in context

- 1 Present perfect 2
- **2** Past perfect 9
- **3** Present continuous 15
- 4 Will or be going to? 21
- 5 *Be* + *to* forms and other tenses with future reference 27

#### Part B Modals in context

- 6 Can and could 34
- **7** Will and would 41
- 8 May, might and must 47
- 9 Shall and should 53
- 10 Other modal forms 61

# Part C Choosing structures in context

- 11 *If*-constructions 70
- **12** Wh-constructions 79
- **13** *It, this, that* 87
- **14** Passives and pseudo-passives 95
- **15** Position of adverbs 103

## Part D Around the noun in context

- **16** Articles 1: *the* 112
- 17 Articles 2: *a / the /* no article 117
- **18** Complex noun phrases 124
- **19** Prepositions 131

# Part E Exploring spoken grammar in context

- 20 Direct and indirect speech 140
- **21** Tails 147
- **22** Heads 153
- **23** Ellipsis 1: at the start of clauses 161
- **24** Ellipsis 2: later in the clause 167
- **25** Discourse markers 174

iii

## Glossary 181

## Reference notes

Choosing between perfective tenses 185 Choosing between continuous and simple forms 189 Choosing between modal verbs 193 Choosing and using if-constructions 204 W*h*-constructions and fronting devices 206 Passives: get- and have-constructions 208 Position of adverbs 210 Articles 214 Complex noun phrases 217 Prepositions 218 Direct and indirect speech 222 Tails and heads (post- and pre-posed elements of clauses) 224 Ellipsis 226 Discourse markers 231

## Key

- 1 Present perfect 233
- 2 Past perfect 234
- **3** Present continuous 236
- 4 Will or be going to? 238
- 5 *Be* + *to* forms and other tenses with future reference 239
- 6 Can and could 241
- 7 Will and would 242
- 8 May, might and must 244
- 9 Shall and should 245
- **10** Other modal forms 247
- 11 *If*-constructions 251
- **12** Wh-constructions 253
- **13** *It, this, that* 254
- 14 Passives and pseudopassives 256
- **15** Position of adverbs 259
- **16** Articles 1: *the* 261
- 17 Articles 2: *a / the /* no article 262
- **18** Complex noun phrases 263
- 19 Prepositions 266
- **20** Direct and indirect speech 268
- **21** Tails 270
- **22** Heads 272
- **23** Ellipsis 1: At the start of clauses 273
- **24** Ellipsis 2: Later in the clause 274
- **25** Discourse markers 277

Index 279



## Acknowledgements

This book has had quite a long genesis, and many people deserve thanks for its publication. We thank Jeanne McCarten of CUP, who originally commissioned the book, Alison Sharpe, who saw it through to completion and encouraged us when spirits flagged, Jane Cordell and Barbara Thomas, whose editorial advice has been invaluable, and all at CUP who have contributed to its design, production and marketing. We also thank Colin Hayes, Jean Hudson and Patrick Gillard of CUP who have made it possible for us to access the spoken and written corpora that are the bedrock of the book, and for providing the resources and technical support such an enterprise requires.

Amongst our colleagues and academic friends, Margaret Berry, Almut Koester, John McRae, Norbert Schmitt and Anoma Siriwardena have always lent a sympathetic ear to our puzzlings over discourse grammar, and have offered examples and the benefit of their own experience as grammar teachers in our department. Particular thanks also to our teaching colleagues at the Centre for English Language Education (CELE), University of Nottingham, and the various cohorts of students who have used and helped us with the materials during their development – especial thanks to the 1996 group of Monbusho-sponsored Japanese teachers for their patient and helpful feedback. Others who have contributed indirectly include Mike Baynham, Doug Biber, David Bowen, Joan Cutting, Bill Dunn, Tony Fitzpatrick, Julia Harrison, San San Hnin Tun, Jim Lantolf, Aaron Lawson, Tessa Moore, David Nunan, John Sinclair, Diana Slade, Jeff Stranks, John Swales, Hongyin Tao, Scott Thornbury, Geoff Tranter, and Linda Waugh.

Thanks must also go to the reviewers and piloters who worked with earlier drafts of the material and whose advice has been extremely valuable. Especial thanks go to Keith Mitchell, of Edinburgh University, whose patient work on the manuscript has improved the grammatical statements immeasurably. There are few better or more perceptive grammarians in Great Britain. Whatever faults remain in the book are, of course, entirely our own responsibility.

The author and publishers are grateful to the following copyright holders for permission to reproduce copyright material. While every endeavour has been made, it has not been possible to identify the sources of all material used and in such cases the publishers would welcome information from copyright sources. Apologies are expressed for any omissions.

p. 7: Treoir Journal for 'A World Stage for Bru Boru'; pp. 17, 24, 36, 42, 73, 84, 90, 104, 133, 140: Randy Glasbergen for cartoon illustrations, © Randy Glasbergen. Reprinted with special permission from www.glasbergen.com; p. 27: The Observer for 'New head set to take charge'; p. 94: Erin Pizzey for extracts from For the Love of a Stranger; p. 108: Rand McNally for extracts from The World: Afghanistan to Zimbabwe; p. 116: Extract from Big Two-Hearted River © Hemingway Foreign Rights Trust; p. 119: Australian Cosmopolitan 1993 for Fact File on Arnold Schwarzenegger; p. 128 International Herald Tribune for the article 'A Doctor at 17...'; p. 167: Advertisement from The Independent © Vauxhall Motors; p. 177: Subaru advertisement text provided with the permission of Subaru (UK) Limited.

Many thanks also to the following teachers, students and institutions from all over the world who reviewed and pilot tested material from *Exploring Grammar in Context*:

Margaret Bell, UK; Sarah Fitt, APU, UK; Dr Susan H. Foster-Cohen, Wendy Gibbons, APU, UK; The British Institute in Paris, France; John Palfrey, Edinburgh; Paul Roberts, UK; Anila Scott-Monkhouse, Parma, Italy; Elzbieta Sielanko, Poland; Jesus Romero Trillo, Universidad Autonoma, Madrid, Spain; Elizabeth Wall, Buenos Aires, Argentina.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS



# To the student

Exploring Grammar in Context (upper-intermediate and advanced) is designed for self-study use by a student working alone or for class use with a teacher.

#### This book:

- distinguishes, where relevant, between written and spoken English.
- uses real spoken and written texts, wherever it is instructive to do so. Many of the
  examples used are drawn from the 100 million word Cambridge International
  Corpus. A corpus is a collection of authentic examples of language stored in very
  powerful computers and used to exemplify the language as it is actually spoken
  and written.
- offers grammatical description and texts at upper-intermediate to advanced level, assuming as a starting point at least an intermediate level of knowledge. Some features of grammar will already be known but will be explored in greater depth.
- has a full **Answer key**, and explanations in the **Observations** sections.
- has **Reference notes** giving you further detailed information and real examples of the most important features of English grammar.
- emphasises the element of **choice** in grammar as well as **rules** for correct structures. For example there is an emphasis in many places on learning how to choose the appropriate grammar according to how informal or formal a context is.
- gives you opportunities to work out rules for yourself and to work out what is the most probable choice in particular contexts. This is called inductive learning.
- gives you opportunities to do further work by encouraging greater language awareness and by developing the ability to observe closely language form and language in use.

vi



# To the teacher

#### What does this book do?

Exploring Grammar in Context (upper-intermediate and advanced) does two things. It focuses on core areas of grammar, such as tenses and articles and gives the learner the opportunity to work in depth with these topics through a series of exercises. Secondly, it offers detailed Reference notes which give authentic examples of a wide range of uses of the core features.

## What is grammar in context?

Exploring Grammar in Context is a guide to some key features of English grammar. Exploring Grammar in Context is different from traditional grammar books because many of the examples are taken from real contexts of grammar in use. These authentic examples show speakers and writers using the language to communicate in a wide variety of contexts.

Like most grammar books, which often illustrate grammatical forms by means of single sentences, several of the examples in this book involve single sentences. But in this book the emphasis on grammar in context means that the examples also frequently contain several sentences or short conversational extracts and show grammar at work across the boundaries of the sentence or the individual speaking turn. The book regularly draws attention to grammar as choice and gives the learner opportunities to exercise grammatical choice in relation to particular contexts in which the language is used.

## What is a grammar of choice?

Exploring Grammar in Context makes a distinction between grammar as structure and grammar as choice. Grammar as structure means: what rules does the learner need to know in order to use this form effectively? An example of a structural rule would be, for example, that in ellipsis a modal verb normally attracts the repeated verb *have*, as in:

A: Has she taken it with her?

B: She may have, I'm not sure.

In such a case as this, **grammar as choice** means: when is it normal to use ellipsis? Are some forms of ellipsis more likely to be used in spoken than in written modes? Are the forms linked to greater or lesser degrees of intimacy and informality? For example subject ellipsis in expressions such as 'Looking forward to seeing you', 'Don't know' and 'Think so' is largely the speaker's/writer's choice.

In this book both **grammar as structure** *and* **grammar as choice** will be treated. But the grammar of choice will be as important as the grammar of structure.

vii



## What do we mean by corpus?

Many of the examples in the book are taken from a multi-million word computerised corpus of spoken and written English called the Cambridge International Corpus (CIC). This corpus has been put together over many years and is based on real examples of everyday English, written and spoken. At the time of writing the corpus contained over 100 million words of English.

A unique feature of CIC is a special corpus of spoken English – the CANCODE corpus. CANCODE stands for Cambridge and Nottingham Corpus of Discourse in English and is a unique collection of five million words of naturally-occurring, mainly British, spoken English, recorded in everyday situations. The CANCODE corpus has been collected throughout the past six years in a project involving Cambridge University Press and the Department of English Studies at the University of Nottingham. The CANCODE corpus is part of CIC. Dialogues and spoken examples are laid out as they actually occur in CANCODE recordings. Except where there may be misunderstandings, interruptions, overlaps, pauses and hesitations are indicated.

The existence of a spoken corpus means that several of the examples in this book can enable us to describe differences between spoken and written grammar and to highlight differences between grammar in informal and formal contexts of use. The CIC corpus contains a wide variety of different texts. Examples in this book are therefore drawn from contexts as varied as: newspapers, popular journalism, advertising, letters, literary texts, debates and discussions, service encounters, formal speeches and friends talking in a restaurant.

Corpus examples also help with illustrations of authentic everyday vocabulary in use. Less common words are explained in special footnotes.

## What is an inductive approach to learning grammar?

Exploring Grammar in Context encourages an inductive approach to grammatical rules and principles, rather than relying exclusively on the presentation—practice—production approach of many traditional grammar books.

Grammatical rules can sometimes be best explained by means of a single sentence and a rule which can then be applied to other examples. Sometimes it is helpful to learners for the sentence to be invented or for the authentic language to be modified in order to illustrate the rule. This practice is found in *Exploring Grammar in Context*. However, the main focus in the book is on helping learners to work out grammatical rules for themselves. This inductive approach to learning grammar often involves providing lots of examples so that patterns of usage can be seen. Of course, within such patterns certain forms are either right or wrong and rules have to be learned. However, the examples can also show that some forms are more probably used in one context rather than another, or that there are choices which depend on whether you are writing or speaking or whether you want to sound more or less formal. *Exploring Grammar in Context* helps learners of English to make their own choices and to understand what those choices mean.

The approach in the book therefore helps learners to learn more inductively, to notice more and to be more aware of the uses of language. It fosters learner autonomy,

viii TO THE TEACHER

encouraging learners to be more independent and to develop some of the skills they need beyond the classroom when they work on their own and when the teacher isn't present. An upper-intermediate level of English is assumed throughout.

# Are there new types of tasks for inductive learning and for a grammar of choice?

In *Exploring Grammar in Context* teachers and students will find a variety of traditional exercise types (for example: gap-filling, rewriting, cloze, multiple choice) alongside tasks and activities which involve problem-solving, observation, awareness-raising and more inductive and text-manipulating activities. In general, tasks and exercises are chosen to suit the activity, though in those parts of the book which are particularly concerned with a grammar of choice there is more emphasis on awareness-raising and on helping learners notice and to work out what the choices help them to express.

## Towards a discourse grammar of English

This book combines traditional and innovative approaches to English grammar. It is traditional in its attention to correct forms and structures and innovative in its attention to appropriate choices and to the illustration of such choices through a wide variety of different texts.

However, several grammars make use of texts for illustration. What is different about *Exploring Grammar in Context*? In this book the idea is not to take a text and then extract atomised, grammatical points from it. Rather, the texts in *Exploring Grammar in Context* serve a steady, inductive unfolding of core grammatical features in use. The place, distribution and sequencing of the grammatical feature in its text is as important as its actual occurrence. This book is innovative, therefore, in bringing in insights from the fields of text and discourse analysis, rather than merely using texts for exemplification. Where appropriate, and by no means throughout the whole book, our emphasis is on the relationship between formal choice and contextual factors. In parts the book represents a first step towards a context-based or 'discourse' grammar of English.

## In what ways is this book an advanced grammar?

Exploring Grammar in Context is not a survey of all the more advanced or problematic uses of English. Even in a book of this length it is not possible to cover all the aspects of advanced uses of grammar. The focus in the book is on core grammatical features. Sometimes this means that learners will meet uses of grammar with which they are unfamiliar; sometimes it means that they will revisit familiar ground.

The features covered in the 25 units are all core in that they are particularly sensitive to spoken and written contexts and because they can exhibit differences between speech and writing and between formal and informal usage. They are core because such sensitivity to context is especially apparent when real examples are explored in texts which go beyond a single sentence or a single utterance.

TO THE TEACHER

ix



Some topics in *Exploring Grammar in Context* such as articles and modals or noun phrases will have been studied already by most upper-intermediate learners. In addition to introducing new grammatical areas, this book encourages learners to go more deeply into a topic and to explore a wide range of uses and functions of particular points of grammar in extended texts. It helps learners to recycle material and to come to know it better. Looking at grammar in context gets us to look at familiar topics in new ways.

TO THE TEACHER



## Introduction

## The structure of the book

The book is divided into five parts.

## Part A: Tenses in context

The units in this section cover a wide range of uses of core tenses in a variety of spoken and written contexts.

#### Part B: Modals in context

The units in this section cover a wide range of modal forms in a variety of different spoken and written contexts. The units also explore some forms which are not conventionally considered under the heading of modals.

## Part C: Choosing structures in context

In this section a range of grammatical structures which contrast in use and function, are explored. The units explore the meanings and effects open to users when one structure rather than another is chosen.

#### Part D: Around the noun in context

In this section a further range of structures, some familiar and some less familiar, are examined with a focus on differences and contrasts in the ways they are used.

## Part E: Exploring spoken grammar in context

The units in this section explore aspects of grammar which are likely to be found in contexts of naturally-occurring speech. The emphasis is on raising awareness as much as it is on practising and using forms. Some learners may choose not to, or not have an opportunity to use some of the forms of spoken grammar which are explored but it is important that the effects and functions of the choices are understood.



## Organisation of the units

Each unit of the book is designed with the following main structure:

### A Introduction

One or two exercises based, where possible, on examples which are designed to orient you to the unit as a whole. Some exercises are more information-based and some are more task-based. The examples generally contain authentic data. For some students the material may be new; for others the material will provide opportunities for revision.

## B Discovering patterns of use

The topics and tasks in this section look at typical patterns of grammar in context. An **Observations** section helps you to understand rules and exceptions, ordering of elements and similar features which relate to the examples.

## C Grammar in action

This contains topics and tasks which are more based on data and which explore more fully grammar patterns in use and in context. Attention is also given to idiomatic patterns and uses in everyday language. Where appropriate, a further **Observations** section, which focuses on speaker/writer choices, is included.

## Follow-up

This consists of tasks which are more open-ended, some of which may involve miniprojects, exploring further data for more extensive study in class or outside the classroom or alone. The section ends with a **Summary** which draws together the main points of the whole unit.

## Further exercises

At the end of each unit there are further exercises which give more extensive practice in using or showing awareness of the aspects of grammar covered in the unit. Answers to these exercises are given at the back of the book but wherever relevant, explanations are also given alongside answers.

### Answer key

Answers to tasks and exercises in each section of the unit are given in the key in the back of the book. Some of the tasks are open-ended and do not have answers which are either correct or incorrect. The key therefore offers suggested answers in these cases. The **Observations** section of the book also gives fuller explanations, where appropriate. A key symbol () indicates places where the answer key needs to be consulted. Where this is not used, the Observations section should be consulted.

xii INTRODUCTION

## Other features

## Reference notes

Reference notes give further detail and examples for the topics covered in each unit. They have the following main purposes:

- to extend observations and descriptions made in the relevant unit.
- to offer further examples, where possible, from the CIC/CANCODE corpora.
- reference, that is, for reading in class or for self-study, or for referring to when you have a question about usage.

There are no accompanying exercises in the Reference notes section.

## Glossary

A glossary provides guidance and definitions of grammatical terms which are likely to be less familiar to you.

## Using the book

Exploring Grammar in Context can be used either in class or for self-study. The book is designed to be worked through from beginning to end but you may follow individual units in any order. Exercises can be done separately and answers and suggested answers checked at the back of the book. The reference notes can also be read and used independently, although they do assume knowledge of the topics covered in the individual unit to which they refer.

When working through each unit different routes are available:

- If the **Introduction** section is found to involve mainly revision, then it is possible to go straight to the **Grammar in action** section.
- It is also possible to work through Discovering patterns of use and then to go straight to the exercises; or to concentrate on the Grammar in action section before moving on to work through the Reference notes.
- Follow-up tasks are more likely to be carried out outside the classroom but the ground can be laid by doing the exercises in the unit first.
- The book is organised so that there is a steady progression from Introduction to Discovering patterns of use to Grammar in action to Follow-up to Exercises to Reference notes. But there is no pre-determined direction and you can choose your own route through the material.

INTRODUCTION



## About the authors

**Ronald Carter** is Professor of Modern English Language at the University of Nottingham. He has published extensively and internationally in the fields of educational, literary and applied linguistics.

Rebecca Hughes is Senior Lecturer, Deputy Director of the Centre for English Language Education and Vice-Dean of the Faculty of Arts at the University of Nottingham. She has published widely and presented internationally in the field of English language teaching and has researched extensively in the field of spoken and written English.

**Michael McCarthy** is Professor of Applied Linguistics at the University of Nottingham and is widely known internationally for his work on discourse analysis, vocabulary and English language teaching.

All three authors of *Exploring Grammar in Context (upper-intermediate and advanced)* share extensive experience of teaching English in schools, colleges and universities at all levels and in many different parts of the world.

xiv INTRODUCTION